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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

DEAN KEVIN LURIE, M.D.
Plaintiff,

Qvil Action No. 06-01386 (RCL)
V.

MID-ATLANTIC PERMANENTE
MEDICAL GROUP, P.C.
Defendant.

e — e — — — — L — —

MEMORANDUM OPINION

l. Introduction

The case concerns an employment dispute betwsaintiff Dr. Dean Kevin Lurie, a
surgeon,and his former employer defendant Matlantic Permanente Medical Qip. After
many years of working for defendant, plaintiff was terminated for allgdatsifying his time
sheets and his history of disciplinary problems, reasons plaintiff claims arere pretext for
disposing of an old employee who challenged unprofessional conduct at his workptace.
addition to a number of common law claims for breach of contract, tortious interfesstte
wrongful discharge, plaintifalleges violations of the Age Discrimination in Employment Act
(ADEA) and the Employee Retirement Income Security Act (ERISA)efendantfiled a
counterclaim seeking recovery for breach of contract, fraud, negliger¢pmasentation, and
unjust enrichment. Currently, before the Court are defendant’s motiono[ 88jike plaintiff’s
statemenbdf material fact, defendant’s rtion [68] for summary judgmerand plaintiff's motion
[69] for summary judgment on the counterclaim. Based on the following considerations, the

Court will DENY defendant’s motion to strike and GRANT defendant’'s motion for suynma
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judgment. The Court does not reach plaintiff's motion for summary judgment, because the Cour
lacks jurisdiction over defendant's counterclaimTherefore the Court will DISMISS
defendant’s counterclaim on jurisdictional grounds.

I. Factual Background

Paintiff is a vascular surgeon residing in the District of Columbia..’s(Rlerified
Compl. [723] 1 5.) Defendant is a professional corporation with its principal place of business
in Maryland that employs physicians who provide medical services to ensmb the Kaiser
Foundation Health Plan of the Mitlantic States. I(l. T 6; Cahill Aff. [683] 1 3.) Plaintiff's
employment with defendaridiegan in 1998 In addition to substantive terms of employment,
plaintiff's job offer letter includeda provision mandating that plaintiff abide by defendant’s
“policies, rules and regulations.” (Pl’s Ex. 2 {8Pat 2.) Plaintiff signed the letter and
commenced working for defendant as a surgeon in the District of Columbidsalicryland
suburbs. I¢. at 3;Cahill Aff. [68-3] 1 5.)

As part of his duties with defendant, plaintiff was assignetteat patientsat various
local hospitals® (Lurie Dep. [68-4] at 67:13.) While working at the Washington Hospital Center
(WHC), plaintiff came into conflictvith his colleaguesverconcerns about safety and quality of
care (Id. at 107:18-108:13, 115:13-116:21.) Whemr&isedhis concerns with his superiors, he
received soméostile responses. (Def.’s Ex. 3 [6Bat 2-3; Def.’s Ex. 5 [68-7] at 2.)

Citing plaintiff's troubled relations with the surgical residents, the head of surgery
requested and obtained plaintiff's reassignment in 2001. (Def.'s Ex.-@] [882; Lurie Dep.

[68-4] at 83:7#11.) Official admonitions from defendant followed, and whenntkhiwas

! Although defendant maintained outpatient clinics like the Largo Medicak€énalso needed to be able to see
patients at hospitals.Séelurie Dep. at 54:815.) Consequently, its physicians were assigned to independent,
partner hospitals like the Washington Hospital Center where they coaldaiser patients.Sgelurie Dep. [684]
at 52:354:21.)



reassigned to WHC two years later, the head of surgery complained abdehhisor once
again. (Def.’s Ex. 5 [69] at 2; Lurie Dep. [681] at 102:113; Def.’s Ex. 6 [688] at 3.) In late

2003, plaintiff was suspended with pay and an investigation was conducted of his conduct.
(Lurie Dep. [68-4] 152:11-153:12.)

Not long after this last round of disciplinary action, plaintiff was transterto
defendant’s Largo, Maryland medical center. (Lurie Dep-4pbat 118:15120:10.) When
plaintiff first arrived, hefelt pressuredo see many doubleooked patients. Iq. at 300:710.)
Plaintiff's colleagues told hinthat, at the Largo Center, these extra patients were handled by
establishing evening clinics or ghost clinicdd. @t 300:16-15.) The phrase “ghost clinic” is
defendant’s terminology for a billing method utilized by certain physicianploy@d by
defendant. (Mem. in Supp. of Def.’s Mot. for Summ. J-26&t 5.) Physicians who had many
sessions double booked during the day would include-haitign addendums with their time
sheets that specified hours worked during the evening. (Lurie Degd] [#8284:16286:12,
300:448, 301:15302:6.) Physicians could thereby be compensated for the extra patients seen
during regular hours.(ld. at 302:412.) In reality, no patients were actually treated in the
evening, thus the expression, ghost clinid. &t 289:5-290:8.)

Defendant was not alone in making use of ghost clinics. Dr. Cohen, an orthopedist, and
Dr. McCanty, aurologist billed for doublebooks in the same manner as plaintiff. (Cohen Dep.
[72-9] at 18:1219:14; McCanty Dep. [~24] at 25:521.) Additionally, Dr. Krolik, a surgeon
who worked with plaintiff, established ghost clinics on three occasions in 2004.l (&f&H68-

3] 1 14.) None of these physicians were subject to disciplinary action as a rebalt bflling
practices. (Pl.’s Opp’n [72] at 16.) Although plaintiff followed the example and aafitis

fellow doctors in creating ghost clinics, (Luibep. [684] at 300:4-301:8, 302:19-303:).1his



manager gave a negative response when he asked about receiving extra aionpensiays
when doctors were overbooked. (Manning Dep. [68-27] at 99:2-102:10.)

Eventually, plaintiff's use of ghost clinicso@ to the attention ad compliance officer
namedAnn Cahill. (Cabhill Aff. [683] 1 2, 12.) She launched an investigation of plaintiff's
time sheets and discovered that he was reporting more hours than the other doctors on
defendant’s payroll. Id. 1 12.) Indeed, Cahill found that plaintiff was the only physician in the
medical group to have created ghost clinics in the preceding six month peSied.id@at 15.)
Based on Cahill's finding as well as plaintiff's poor discipline history, mddat teminated
plaintiff during an October 2005 meeting at its Maryland headquartdds) At that time,
plaintiff was forty-eight years old. (Compl. [1] 1 24.)

While at the Largo facility, defendant had arranged to conduct a clinical trial of a new
surgicaldevice. Geelurie Dep. [741] at 240:212.) To govern the clinical trial, plaintiff,
defendant, andhe device company (Graftcathigneda document outlining the terms of their
relationshipand naming plaintiff principal investigator(Def.’'s Ex. 18.[70] at 2.) When
plaintiff was terminated, he was unable to continue serving as principaligatest (Pl.’s
Verified Compl. [72-3] 1 38.)

After his removal, plaintiff opened a private medical practice. (Pl.’s MdriCompl.
[72-3] 1 19.) Thouglhe applied for membership in defendant’s network of outside providers, he
was rejected. Id.) Efforts to develop his new practice have been hindered by his reduced access
to Kaiser Health Group patientsegLurie Dep. [684] at 354:19355:11), some olvhom may
have been dissuaded by defendant from seeking treatment with plaintiff dessit&tis as their

preferred surgeon.SgeePl.’s Ex. 3 [72-5] 1 5; Pl’'s Ex. 4 [72-6] 1 5.)



[I. Defendant’s Motion to Strike

Local rule 7(h) requires that a party oppm summary judgment include a “separate
concise statement of genuine issues setting forth all material facts dmsctoiiMs contended
there exists a genuine issue to be litigated, which shall include referendes garts of the
record relied on tgupport the statement.” LCvR 7(h). The purpose of the rule is to aid courts in
deciding motions for summary judgment by refining the record to focus on disputed factua
issues.Burke v. Gould286 F.3d 513, 517 (D.C. Cir. 2002). In interpreting ruk, the Circuit
Court has prescribed caution, warning of the drastic consequences of striking agtatéyhent
of fact. Id. at 517. The remedy should be reserved for those cases involving “egregious
conduct.” Id.

Defendant contends that plaintiff'sagtment of material fact violates local rule 7(h) and
should be stricken. In support of its motion, defendant argues that plaintitésneta is
overlong at 117 pages, siffusedwith argument, and fails to squarely address defendant’s
statements of fa. (Def.’s Mem. in Supp. of Mot. to Strike [78-1] at 2, 4, 11.)

Although plaintiff's statementeedlessly extends to 117 pages, it cites to the record and

rightfully does not contain legal argumer(See, e.gid. Y 14, 21, 22, 87, 123.) For exdmp
defendant’statement of material faeffirms, “The letter was sharply critical of WHC’s surgery
department chairman, John Kirkpatrick in particular.” (Def.’s Local Rule 7é&ig®ent [6828]
1 14.) In his own statement, plaintiff denies this assertion then launches into a four page
description of hospital policy on official complaints and the Code of Ethics of theidemer
Medical Association. (Pl.’s Statement {TR{ 14.)

While the plaintiff's statement is inappropriately long and evasiveCthet cannot say

that a statement of fact which otherwise comports with local rule 7(h) byg ¢atithe record,



separately responding to each of defendant’s statements, and refraininigdedrargument is
egregious and ought to be strickedompare Chambliss v. Nat'l R.R. Passenger Cdip. 05
2490, 2007 WL 581900, at *2 (D.D.C. 2007) (granting a motion to strike where plaintiff's
statement did not properly cite the record, interspersed legal argument, and didespocat to
paragraphs in defendant’s statement). Accordingly, defendant’s motion [78ké&op#intiff's
statement [721] is denied.

V. Defendant’s Motion for Summary Judgment

A. Summary JudgmentStandard

Generally, summary judgment should be granted only if the moving party has skawn th
there are no genuine issues of material fact and that the moving party is énftiégment as a
matter of law. FED.R.QvV.P. 56; Celotex Corp. v. Catretd77 U.S. 317, 322 (1986)yaterhouse
v. District of Columbia 298 F.3d 989, 991 (D.C.Cir.2002A genuine issue of material fact
exists if the evidence, when viewed in a light most favorable to thenmowmg party, “is such
that a reasonable jury could return a verdict for the-mowming party.” Anderson v. Liberty
Lobby, Inc, 477 U.S. 242, 2481986) In determining whether a genuine issue of material fact
exists, the Court must view all facts in the light most favorable to themowmg party. See
Matsushita Elec. Indus. Co. v. Zenith Radio Co4@5 U.S. 574, 587 (1986)l'he nonmoving
paty’s opposition, however, must consist of more than mere unsupported allegations or denials
and must be supported by affidavits or other competent evidence setting forthc Saetsf
showing that there is a genuine issue for triegdD.R.Qv.P. 56(e);seeCelotex Corp.477 U.S.
at 324. At the summary judgment stage, a judge may not make credibility determinasahst

is the function of a juryGeorge v. Leavift407 F.3d 405, 413 (D.C. Cir.2005).



B. ADEA
The Age Discrimination in Employment Act DEA) forbids an employer from
firing an employee on the basis of his age. 29 U.S.C. § 623(a)(1) (2006). The Circuit Court has
clearly articulated the standard to be used in evaluating motions for sumrdgrgejot in
employment discrimination disputes:

[Iln considering an employer’'s motion for summary judgment or judgment as a

matter of law in those circumstances, the district court must resolve ond centra

guestion: Has the employee produced sufficient evidence for a reasonable jury to
find that the emplger's asserted nediscriminatory reason was not the actual

reason and that the employer intentionally discriminated against the employe

the basis of race, color, religion, sex, or national origin?

Brady v. Office of the Sergeant of Arr820 F.3d 490, 494 (D.C. Cir. 200@)jting St. Mary’s
Honor Ctr. v. Hicks 509 U.S. 502, 5608, 511 (1993), and.S. Postal Serv. Bd. of Governors
v. Aiken 460 U.S. 711, 714-716 (1983)).

Subsequent tBrady, the Supreme Court further focused the ADEA standard. It held, “A
plaintiff bringing a disparatereatment claim pursuant to the ADEA must prove, by a
preponderance of the evidence, that age was thefdbutause of the challenged adverse
employment action.” Gross v. FBL Fin. Servs., Incl29 S. Ct. 23432352 (2009). Put
differently, it is not enough that age was one motivating factor in an adverse erapt@gation;
rather, it must be the case that the adverse action would not have occurred inrntbe abage
as a consideratiorSee idat 2350.

Therefore,the Court mustiecide whether sufficient evidence exists for a reasonable juror

to find that defendant’s proffered reasons for terminating plaintiff maskichinatory intent that

rendered age the bidr cause of plaintiff's termination.Eviden@ of pretext may include

2 Bradydoes not expressly address age discrimination claiasvever, this Court and the other courts of this
district have regularly extended Brady’s methodology to claims uhdeADEA. ChappellJohnson vBlair, 574
F. Supp. 2d 87, 96 n.9 (D. D.C. 2008f'd, 358 Fed. App’x 200 (D.C. Cir. 2009Hence theCourt does not
hesitate in applyin@radyto the present case.



variant treatment of similarly situated employees, discriminatory statementgibypdanakers,
and irregularities in the stated reasons for the adverse employmentreBrsady, 520 F.3d at
495 & n.3. However, discrimination will not be inferred from the fact that defend&ats®ns
prove unfounded so long as they are held reasonably and in goodHeatty, 520 F.3d at 495.
Similarly, an inference of discrimination should not be drawn from disparaten&ea of
comparal® employees unlesslt of the relevant aspects of [a plaintiff's] employment situation
[are] ‘nearly identical” to those of the comparatoNeuren v. Adduci, Mastriani, Meeks, &
Schill, 43 F.3d 1507, 1514 (D.C. Cir. 1995).

In the instant case efendantasserts that plaintiff was fired for falsifying his time sheets
and for his long history of disciplinary problems. (Mem. in Supp-Zpat 5.) In order to
demonstrate that defendant’s stated reasons were only a pretext forcaigeirdaion, plaintiff
pursues roughly five distinct lines of argument: (1) plaintiff was replaced l®gs qudied,
younger physician(2) plaintiff completed his time sheets consistent with company practice and
was the only physician disciplined for so doing; (3) plaiistiftiisciplinary history was
undeserved and a contrived, post hoc justification for his termination; (4) defendemagers
were aware that the defendant stood to reap financial benefits from termldengphysicians
like plaintiff, and (5) defendarg’ managers made depreciatory remarks about plaintiff's age.
(Pl.’s Opp’n to Def.’s Mot. for Summ. J. [72] at 13-14, 16-18.)

1. Plaintiff was not “replaced’ by a younger doctor

Plaintiff claims that Dr. Aryavand was hired as his more youthful but less n@&ugo
replacement. Specifically, plaintiff alleges thaDr. Aryavand was offered a job only oday
before defendant began the investigation which led to plaintiff's terminatfte@eP(.’s Ex. 37

[69-39] at 2; Cahill Aff. [683]  18.) Dr. Aryavand waghirty-eight at the time he was hired



while plaintiff was fortyeight at the time he was fired. (Aryavand Dep.-TT2at 22:58;
Compl. [1] T 24.) Both plaintiff and Dr. Aryavand were vascular surgeons. (Pl.’s ederifi
Compl. [72-3] 1 12; Aryavand Dep. [72-7] at 14:9-12.)

However plaintiff's evidence provides little basis for a jury to infer that Dr. Aryalva
was hired as plaintiff's replacement, much less that plaintiff sufferectighination thereby.
After Dr. Aryavand was hired, he and plaintiforked at different facilities; whereas plaintiff
was employed at defendant’s Largo, Maryland center, Dr. Aryavand worked forddeten
Kensington, Maryland and in Washington DC. (Lurie Dep-46&t 120:3-10; Aryavand Dep.
[72-7] at 22:1123:16, 46:1316.) Furthermore, Dr. Aryavand possessed qualificattbas
plaintiff lacked; he was a fellowshipained vascular surgeon while plaintiff did not have such
training. (Aryavand Dep. [#Z] at 12:1721; Lurie Dep. [6&4] at 14:1418.) Finally, in
regads to the timing of personnel decisions, the alleged connection between defendant®s offer o
employment to Dr. Aryavand and its decision to investigate plaintiff is terriblyuatted. Other
than pointing out the conjunction, plaintiff furnishes no evidence from which a reasonable juror
could find that the timing of defendant’s actions was anything more than a coincidence

2. Defendant acted in good faith in terminating plaintiff for his timesheet
practices

Plaintiff allegesthat his timesheet practices nian accord with defendant’s policies and
that he alone was punished for the common practice of creatinglled ghost clinics. In
support of his contentions, plaintiff claims that a document obtained from defendilede
“MAPMG Pay Practices, Julg005” [7234] verifies that defendant sanctioned the use of ghost
clinics. The document, however, cannot be fairly read to support plaintiff's positionngnothi
indicates that physicians could be paid for multiple dobbleks during the day by chargingy f

dummy patients treated in the evenin§edPl.'s Ex. 32 [72-34].) For instance, where the report



refers to payments for “extra sessions,” it appears to be indicatingcahedork actually
performed aftehours such as “urgent cases in late afternoorevening,” not services for
fictitious evening patients. Id. at 2.) In sum, plaintiff's conclusory characterization of this
document would not permit a jury to find that ghost clinics were authorized by defendant

Next, plaintiff argues that establisly ghost clinics was a common practice in which
defendant’s managers acquiesced. After arriving at defendant’s Largdaibnyedical center,
plaintiff's colleaguegtold him thatthese extra patients were handled by establishing evening
clinics (ghost clinics). 1(. at 300:16815.) Despite the reassurances of his fellow surgeons,
plaintiff remained hesitant and prompted the head nurse Sharon Stewart to seekadiothoriz
from her manager Ms. Williams who then consulted her manager Mr. Lab&khat @01:2-11.)
Afterwards, Ms. Lawrence informed plaintiff that her managers had gingtructions to operate
ghost clinics. 1. at 301:1215.) Note however, thatsaa surgeon, plaintiff's immediate
supervisors were Dr. Manning and Dr. Schwartd. 4t 40:1-4, 304:6-10.) Though neither Dr.
Manning nor Dr. Schwartz ever expressly authorized the use of ghost clinicsffdiaireved
that they tacitly endorsed the practic&e¢ idat 303:18-306:6). However, neither Dr. Manning
nor Dr. Schwartz, plaintiff's immediate supervisors, ever expressly autddheeuse of ghost
clinics. See idat 303:18-306:6).

While a jury could infer that if plaintiff was not violating company policy, that
defendant’s stated reasons for terminating plaintiff were pretgxhe record does not support
that conclusion. Thevidencethat defendant approved of the use of ghost clinics addrésses
perception ofplaintiff and his colleagues, rather than the understandirfigsasupervisors and
the managers involved in fitermination. See George v. Leayi#t07 F.3d 405, 415 (D.C. Cir.

2005)(stating that a defendant may prevail on summary judgment if there is no gesumass

10



to whether the manager making the termination decision honestly and reasonasgdogli
defendant’s reasons).

There is evidence that relevant managers did not share plaintiff's belief about the
acceptability of ghost clinics. For example, when plaintiff asked his @gpeibout receiving
additional payment for multiple double books, thatter was taken to a higher manager who
expressly rejected the idea(Manning Dep. [687] at 99:21005.) Whereas Igintiff's
evidence goes this beliefin the propriety of ghost clinics anldis understandinghat his
supervisors’ acquiesced in theaptice the supervisorthemselves rejected it

More importantly, the managers participating in the investigation preceefiegdant’s
termination, Traci Holsteen and Ann Cahill, did not accept the legitimacy of ghioisis.c
Holsteen was defendantirector of Regional Access Services. (Holsteen Aff-1681 2.) In
June 2005, whilst conducting a “routine review of physician schedules,” Holsteerdnbiate
evening sessions had been opened for plaintiff in which patients he had seenretidietay
were booked. I1d.) Subsequently, Holsteen sent an email to plaintiff's supervisors, Dr. Mpnnin
and Dr. Schwartz, expressing her concern at her findindsy 8.) She wrote,

Dr. Lurie is the only surgeon that | am aware of that sees his doobks during

the day and places them in an extra session in the evening. His timesheet will

reflect an additional four hours that was filled with one hour’'s equivalent of

patients that were seen during his regular day. This is not the routine for our
appoach to scheduling.
(Id. at 4.) Eventually, the matter was referred to Cahill. (Cahill Aff-36&1 2, 12.) After
reviewing plaintiff's time sheets, Cahill recognized that plaintiff was reportingymeore hours
than his fellow physicians.ld. 1 12.) Further exploring company files, she found that no other

physician in 2004 or 2005 had created ghost clinics except for plaintiff's surgitzdgod Dr.

Krolik who created just three ghost clinics in 2004ld. Y 12, 14). Following Cahill’'s

11



invedigation, defendant terminated plaintiff in October of 2006.. { 15.) By all appearances,
Holsteen and Cahill honestly and reasonably believed that plaintiff's timieskers improper.
Accordingly, no reasonabjary couldinfer discrimination fromhe time sheet evidence.

Plaintiff also maintains that while other physicians, including his surgical gakeBr.
Krolik, created ghost clinics, only he was disciplined for doing so. He allegedispiarate
treatment is indicative of discriminatiorRlaintiff is correct that evidence that similarly situated
employees were treated differently is proper fodder for an employmserintination case.
Brady, 520 F.3d at 495. However, plaintiff's long disciplinary history and the magnitude of his
use of ghost clinics serve to distinguish him from doctors who were not disciplined.

Doctors who used ghost clinics but were not punished include Dr. Camemnthopedist,
Dr. McCanty, aurologist, and plaintiff's surgical colleague Dr. Krolik. (Cohen DeR-91 at
18:12-19:14; McCanty Dep. [F24] at 25:521; Cahill Aff. [683] 1 14; Pl.’'s Opp’n [72] at 16.)
Plaintiff can be distinguished from Dr. Cohen and Dr. McCanty as neither physwcieged in
the department of surgery with plaintiff. S€eLurie Dep. [68-4] at 287:1821, 38:1315.)
Additionally, neither doctor is alleged to possess a comparable disciplinarg.re&s a fellow
surgeon, Dr. Krolik is a better candidate for comparison but still possesses amgrdffterences
from plaintiff. For ore, she used ghost clinics relatively littleSegeCahill Aff. [68-3] § 14.)
From the beginning of 2004 to October 2005, Dr. Krolik recorded ghost clinics on three
occasions while plaintiff did so at least fourteen times during the sanwpefd.) What is
more, Dr. Krolik had a spotless recordd. In contrast, plaintiff had often been in trouble with
the company, a fact that defendant considered in deciding to discharg@Jamll Aff. [68-3] 1

15; seediscussioninfra Part IV.B.2.¢ Given tle different employment situations of the three

% Comparators must be nearly identical to a plaintiff in all relevant aspktttsinemployment situationNeuren
43 F.3d at 1514.
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doctors the Court should not infer discrimination from the fact tiety were not similarly
punished for maintaining ghost clinicSee Childsierce v. Util. Workers Union of AnB83 F.
Supp. 2d 60, 7475 (D.D.C. 2005) (refusing to find pretext where plaintiff had accumulated
record of deceit and insubordination while comparators had never been disciplined).

3. Defendant could have terminated plaintiff in good faith based on his
disciplinary history

Plaintiff’s third argument contests defendant’s appeal to past disciplinary msids a
reason for plaintiff's termination. Evidence of falsehood and inconsisteney~wss stated
reasons for termination may be used to infer discriminatory intBrady, 520 F.3d at 495 &
n.3. Plaintiff, however, fails to contest the existence of his disciplinary reodritssuse as a
basis for his firing.

Plaintiff drew the ire of company officials on several occasions. The historpiotiffis
troubles begins in 200vhen he was reassigned from WHC after the head of surgery there
complained about his behavior. (Def.’s Ex. 4-@8at 2; Lurie Dep. [68}] at 83:7#11.) In
response to this incident, defendant saw fit to officially warn plaintiff aimdoaish him about
his behavior. $eeDef.’s Ex. 5 [687] at 2.) Two years later, plaintiff was reassigned to WHC,
but again the head of surgery complained about his behavior. (Lurie Def). $302:3+13;
Def’s Ex. 6 [688] at 3.) In late 2003, defendant suspendedniiia with pay and an
investigation was conducted of his conduct. (Lurie Dep-4J6852:11+153:12.) It also issued
him a reprimand letter and a Performance Improvement Pl&aeDef.’s Ex. 8 [6810]; Def’s
Ex. 9 [6811].) Afterwards, plaintiffkept encounteringrouble with patients and ewmorkers
alike. See, e.gDef.’s Ex. 11 [68-13].)

Plaintiff responds by offering an alternate characterization of his timee atctmpany

onein which he plays the part of the white knight, victimized by defendant for insistinggbn hi

13



standards of professionalisniSeePl.’s Opp’n [72] at 17.)Yet regardless of whethgilaintiff's
sanctions were fair or right, defendant could legitimately take plaintéterd into account in
making its decision to termite plaintiff. It is enough that defendant honestly and reasonably
believed in the validity of its bases for terminating plaintBeeGeorge 407 F.3d at 415.

Plaintiff also tries to show that defendant’'s invocation of his disciplinacgrdewas
pretextual by pointing to awards he received and improvements in his official ewalsiatPl.’s
Opp’'n [72] at 17.) Regardless of whether plaintiff receivéte accoladesdefendant still could
have honestly and reasonably relied on defendant’s past tr@skddsasis for his terminationt |
may well have been foolish to terminate a surgeon as talented as plaunitifiat does not
demonstrate that defendant’s appeal to plaintiff's disciplinary recordnseere.

Finally, plaintiff contests that his discipline record was part of the ofigiséification
for his termination and declares that it was only asserted later to “butffef=nflant’s case.”
(SeePl.’s Opp’'n [72] at 16.) Plaintiff's position, however, is based on a mischaratienof
Cahll's deposition testimony. SeePl.’s Opp’'n [72] at 1617.) In his brief, plaintiff quotes in
isolation the following bit of the deposition recor®.“ Was there any other reason why he was
terminated? A. No.” (Cahill Dep. [7@] at 156:912.) Plantiff relies on thisresponse to
demonstrate that time sheets were the only justification for plaintiff's termindiignywhen
placed in proper context, the cited testimony does not support plaintiff's position. ic&pgcif
plaintiff omits important peceding lines that show Cahill and her questioner were discussing
only the text of plaintiff's termination letter, not defendant’s reasons fonitation more
generally. (Cahill Dep. [~3] at 155:15156:12.) Moreover, during the same deposition, Cahill
had already stated there were other reasons for plaintiff's removal:

Q. Your testimony earlier today | recall is that this was the only reasorafie w
terminated and | wanted to ask you if, in fact, this is the only reason he was

14



terminated? A. | don’t remember saying it was the only reason. | know that also
in consideration was the behavior of Dr. Lurie on previous occasions. Concerns
about him were mitigating factors.

(Def.’s Reply Ex. 4 [774] 151:3-12.) At the end of the dayCahill's testimony establishes that

disciplinary problems played a role in plaintiff's dismissal.

4. Defendant’salleged pecuniary interest in plaintiff’ s termination does not
show discrimination

Plaintiff allegesthat defendant stood to gain financially by firing plaintiff & older
doctor. Plaintiff's position here rests on three pieces of evidence. Firsteesalhat defendant
had changed the rules for its pension program so that physicians hired after 2000 coule not ret
with full benefits until age 6%. (SeePl’s Opp’'n [72] at 17.) Second, Cahill once remarked to
plaintiff that he was “making too much money.” Third, Dr. Aryavand, plaintiff'sgaite
younger replacement, was paid less money than and would retire at a latamaglaintiff.

Altering the pension program is not indicative of discriminatory intent. To begin,
plaintiff was hired well before the new policy took effectedPl.’s Verified Compl. [723]

10), and therefore, he and other longtime employees could not have been dissuaded from
remaining with defendant by the change. However, even if the changes did not laif&dt,p

he may still contend that they are indicative of a generalized hostility towlaelsemnployees
harbored by defendant. On the contrary, increasing the retit@genms suggestive of a desire to

retain older physicians past the age of sixty rather than to hurry them out the ddwoe. eAt tof

* In his brief, plaintiff describes the pension rufashaving been changed so as to exclude physicians hired after
2000 from retiring with full benefits at 65S¢ePIl.’s Opp’'n [72] at 17.) This may misrepresent the development of
defendant’s pension policy. The record is ambiguous; it may be theheagea2001 hires gained the ability to
retire at 60 while hires after that date were to be kept ineligible for full regtiveomtil 65. $eeDef.’s Reply Ex. 1
[77-1] 1 4; Pl.’s Ex. 13 [7A5] at 72:2673:7.) Nonetheless, defendant does not dispatetiff's account, and

either version of events should yield the same outcome on the distioni question. Allowing full retirement at
sixty would only make employment with defendant more attractivpdople in defendant’s age group, hardly a
way topurge one’s payrolls of workers between the ages of 40 and 60.

15



the day, the Court does not see how a reasonable jury could infer discrimination frg@scinan
the pension plan.

On me occasion, Cahill observed to plaintiff that he was “making too much money.”
(Lurie Dep. [684] at 188:810.) Plaintiff interprets her words as expressing a desire to
terminate an older, better remunerated employee. Yet what plaintiff omits to misntiaat
Cabhill made the comment while discussing plaintiff's use of ghost clinikcs.at( 188:14-17.)
When Cahill expressed her opinion about plaintiff's earnings, the circumstaggessshe did
So in relation to the extra pay he was receivinggtoost clinics, not entitlements accrued as an
older physician. In proper perspective, there is nothing insidious about Cahill’'skrema
Nonetheless, plaintiff attempts to link Cahill's comment to the fact that Dr. Argavas
alleged replacement, wagigd substantially less than plaintiff and would not have been eligible
for full retirement until age 65. The Court has already addressed the atgthmaé Dr.
Aaryavand was plaintiff's replacement in the negative.

5. Isolated, derogatory remarks about plaintiffs age do not show
discrimination

Fifth and finally, plaintiff relies on comments made by one of defendant’'s man&yyer
Beaverson, about his age. In the course of a meeting at her office, Dr. Beavletsaintiff
that he had “gotten so old.” (Lurie Dep. {8Bat 59:68.) Plaintiff's claims notwithstanding,
Dr. Beaverson’s comments are insufficient to infer discrimination in the dedisiterminate
plaintiff. “[S]tray remarks, ‘even those made by a supervisor, are iciguff to create &iable
issue of discrimination where, as here, they are unrelated to an emptayacesion involving
the plaintiff.”” Talavera v. Fore648 F. Supp. 2d 118, 132 (D.D.C. 2009) (quoiugnms v.
U.S. Gov't Printing Office87 F. Supp. 2d 7, 9 n.2 (D.D.C. 2000)). Dr. Beaverson’'s statement

gualifies as a stray remark; after the meeting in question, she andfpe@dtno further contact.
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(Lurie Dep. [68-4] at 195:9-14.) More to the point, although Dr. Beaverson was in mamigem
she was not involveih the decision to terminate plaintift SéeBeaverson Aff. [772] 11 3, 7;
Lurie Dep. [684] 202:19-203:2.) In sum, Dr. Beaverson’s statement is insufficient to generate a
jury worthy issue on discrimination.

Having separately considered each of pitiis arguments, the Court has discovered
nothing from which a reasonaljla’y could infer that the reasons given for plaintiff's discharge
were a pretext for unlawful employment discrimination. Given the absencedainee that
defendant’s stated reasons were insincere or that age was a factor in, let alefoe edmse of,
plaintiff's termination, the Court will grant summary judgment in defendant’s fangaintiff's
ADEA claim.

C. ERISA

The Employee Retirement Income Security Act (ERISA) forbidseenployer from
discharging a participant in an employee benefit plan for the purpose of inggrath the
attainment of any right under the plan. 29 U.S.C. § 1140interpreting ERISA, the Circuit
Court has followed the familiar burden shifting approach employed in Title VIIAGDEA
cases.SeeMay v. Shuttle, In¢ 129 F.3d 165, 1690 (D.C. Cir. 1997). Under that framework,
the plaintiff is required to first make out a prima facie case of prohibited gerptmnduct
before the burden shifts tbd defendant to articulate a legitimate reason for its actidnat
169. The burden then swings back to the plaintiff to prove that the presented reasons are
pretextual.ld. at 170.

Though May was following the state of the art in employment disanation
jurisprudence, subsequent developments have altered the way courts in thisreat WDEA

and Title VIl claims. See James v. Int'l Painters and Allied Trades Indus. Pension R@107-
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2107, 2010 WL 1741114, at *12 (D.D.C. April 30, 2010). eS8fcally, the Circuit Court
directed inBrady that courts considering motions for summary judgment focus on the pretext
guestion. SeeBrady, 520 F.3d at 494.0ncethe defendant has proffered rdiscriminatory
reasons for its actions, the court needlorger concern itself with whether the plaintiff has
made out a prima facie caskl.

So far, the Circuit Court has not extended the methodolod@randy to claims under
ERISA. See Jame£010 WL 1741114, at *12. However, a fellow court in this distias with
good reason opted to ap@yadyto an ERISA claim.See id.Updating ERISA interpretation to
correspond with developments in the application of Title VIl is consistent with ittoeitC
Court’s approach of maintaining both areas of the lapanallel. See id. Thus, the Court’s task
is to determine whether the evidence is sufficient to allow a reasonabletguford that
defendant’s reasons for terminating plaintiff are a pretext for depriving himsopédmnsion
benefits.

Plaintiff's evidence in support of his ERISA claim is sparse. Plaintiff reliégrge part
on his verified complaint in order to make his argument. The relevant ssttes,

Upon information and belief, one of the determining factors causing his

[plaintiff's] termination was Defendant Kaiser's desire to deprive Plaintiff Dr.

Lurie of further participation in “Defendant Kaiser’s pension plan and to avoid the

adverse economic impact which Plainitff Dr. Lurie’s continuation in the plan

would cause. Such discrimination was for the purpose of interfering with Plaintiff

Dr. Lurie’s attainment of rights to which he was entitled under Defendant

Kaiser’s pension plan, contrary to the provisions of Section 510 of ERISA.

(Pl.’s Verified Compl. [72-3] 1 12.)
There is some astion as to the evidentiary status of this statement. The Circuit Court

has established that a verified compliant may be treated as an affidavitriorasy judgment

purposes. See Neal v. Kelly963 F.2d 453, 457 (D.C. Cir. 1997). Neverthelesi 5e)
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dictates that an “opposing affidavit must be made on personal knowledge, set out facts tha
would be admissible in evidence, and show that the affiant is competent todadtiky matters
stated.” FED. R.Civ. P.56(e).

Although plaintiff's veriied complaint may be dealt with as an affidavit, the statement in
guestion violates rule 56(e) and cannot be accorded weight in deciding the present motion for
summary judgment. Though plaintiff claims that his declaration derives frdorrfiation and
bdief,” he does not point to specific facts or observations which would support his contention or
explain the provenance of his knowleddPl.’'s Opp’n [72] at 18.) The court, therefore, will not
consider the above section of plaintiff's verified complaint in evaluating the isufi of the
evidence. See Greene v. Daltpril64 F.3d 671, 675 (D.C. Cir. 1999) (refusing to credit
conclusory portion of plaintiff's affidavit that stated, without support, that she maie
gualified than other applicants).

Aside from his verified complaint, plaintiff points to a few stray points in the evalenc
support his claim. SeePl.’s Opp’n [72] at 1920.) First, he relies on Cahil’'s comment to
plaintiff that he was “making too much money.(Pl.’'s Opp’'n [72] at 19.) As previously
addressed, plaintiff takes Cahill’s statement-afutontext. Cahill made the comment in the
course of a meeting about plaintiff's use of ghost clinics; her reference tangnio much
money” was in regard to the extra hours plaintiff was billing, not his pension agladongtime
employee. $eelurie Dep. [68-4] at 188:8-17.)

Second plaintiff claims that defendant stood to save substantial sums by terminating him
and replacing him with younger doctors, like his alleged replacement Dr. Aryavhadyould
receive less lucrative pension packagekl. gt 19-20). Plaintiff claims that his expert, Dr.

Bozilleri, is ready to testify that he would have been entitled to mare $800,000 in pension
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benefits had he not been firedld.(at 20.) Plaintiff, though, does not cite to record evidence
which would confirm the content or availability of Dr. Borzilleri's testijgon (See id).
Converselythe record does show that plaintiff was already vestéaeipension plan at the time
of his termination. $eelLurie Dep. [684] at 205:1821.) In fact, plaintiff reapedts benefits by
electingto accept a lump sum distribution of his pension entitlemembstly after his firing.
(Def.’s Reply Ex. 1 [77-1] at 1 6.)

Third, plaintiff directs the Court’'s attention to the deposition testimony of daf€ada
Chairman of the Board, Dr. Michell.SéePl.’s Opp’'n [72] at 19.) Plaintiff reads Dr. Michell’s
testimony for the proposition that defendant “changed its pension plan so that new employe
would no longer be able to receive full benefits at age 6@:) (The Court has already noted
that plaintiff may have misrepresented Dr. Michell's testimony with respect thisherical
development of the pension plan. Still, for present purpdsesCourt may accept plaintiff's
characterization as true.

Even if one accepts that the pension plan was altered to prevent new employees from
retiring with full benefits at age 60 and that defendant reaped some pensiors $avifiigng
plaintiff, a regonable jurycould notinfer that defendant’'s reasons for firing plaintiff were a
pretext for depriving him of his pension benefits. It cannot be the case that emerwarti
employer alters its pension program or choose to fire an employee, the pgssilsdivings will
render its motives sufficiently suspect to create a jury issBee May 129 F.3d at 171
(“Plaintiffs must show more than that Shuttle [their employer] furloughed pfairttf save
money”); Conkwright v. Westinghouse Elec. Cor@®33 F.2d 231,239 (4th Cir. 1991)
(“[Plaintiff's] suggestion that [defendant] acted illegally because gdatd save money proves

too much. Under that reasoning, any actions by an employer that result in sagingsbe
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suspect.”). Something more is neededshow an illicit motive for the decision to sack an
employee, but no such additional evidence was forthcoming in this case. Therdtrdades
motion for summary judgment on plaintiff's ERISA claim will be granted.

D. Choice of Law

Plaintiff also assés a number of common law claims over which the Court has
jurisdiction based on diversity of citizenship. When hearing diversity case€otimé applies
the law of the forum state, including its choice of law rul&ee Klaxon Co. v. Stenton Elec.
Mfg. Co, 313 U.S. 487, 496 (1941). According to the choice of law doctrine of the District of
Columbia, the Court’s first task is to determine if there is a conflict betweenibefaelevant
jurisdictions. Eli Lilly and Co. v. Home Ins. Co64 F.2d 876,882 (D.C. Cir. 1985) (citing
Fowler v. A&A Co. 262 A.2d 344, 348 (D.C. 1970paither v. Meyers404 F.2d 216, 222 (D.C.
Cir. 1968)). If no conflict exists, it is unnecessary for the Court to make aratdtichoice of
law determination See id.

Plantiff is of the opinion that either District of Columbia law or that of California should
apply to his common law claims.Sé€ePl.’s Opp’n [72] at 22.) California, though, is not a
serious candidate. For his part, defendant believes that the law of Maryland ought to govern.
(SeeDef.’s Reply to Opp’n to Mot. for Summ. J. [77] at 10 n.8,)2Bhat being said, the Court
believes that identical results will be reachmd all claimsregardless of whether District of

Columbia or Maryland law is applied. Hence, the Court finds it unnecessary to contlottea c

® The only link between the present litigation and California is the affiliatfatefendant with The Permanente
Medical Group, a medical group headquartered in Califorr8aeR].’s Ex. 17[72-19] at 2.) Just a glance at the
District of Columbia choice of law standard is enough to belie the notion #li&ir8ia law ought to applySee
Drs. Groover 917 A.2d at 1117Greycoat 657 A.2d at 76468. The key events underlying this litigatitook
place either in the District of Columbia or Marylan&eég, e.g.Pl.’s Verified Compl. [723] 11 10, 15, 16, 19.)
Plaintiff is a resident of the District of Columbia, and defendant hasititsipal place of business in Maryland.
(Pl.’s Verified Compl. [723] 111 5, 6.) Plaintiff admits the irrelevance of California law iasaf the majority of
his analysis follows Maryland and District of Columbia law with onlyrag@ references to California law and
policy preferences.SgePl.’s Opp'n [2] at 22, 28).
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of law analysis and instead will present both District of Columbia and Mualylaw as it
analyzes each cause of action.

E. Wrongful Discharge

Plaintiff argues that “wrongful discharge is groundadboth tort and contract” and
therefore bases his claim on violations of both defendant’s internal policieshdikemployee
manual, and public policy. Clarifying plaintiff's position, defendant correttyognizes that
plaintiff's wrongful dischargelaim actually constitutes two distinct causes of action. Where the
plaintiff is relying on defendant’s internal documents or employee manual, Ims ©aan
implied contract claim, and where the plaintiff relies on public policy, he is purduenpitt of
wrongful discharge CompareFingerhut v. Children’s Nat'l Med. €t 738 A.2d 799, 803 (D.C.
1999)(discussing the history of the intentional tort for wrongful discharge intioalaf public
policy), and Wholey v. Sears Roebyd@d03 A.2d 482, 488 (Md. 2002) (recognizing wrongful
discharge as a tort based on violation of public polieyth) Strass v. Kaiser FoundHealth Plan
of Mid-Atlantic, 744 A.2d 1000, 1011 (D.C. 2000) (“The terms of an employer's personnel or
policy manual may be sufficient traise a jury question as to whether the manual creates
contractual rights for the employee.gnd Dahl v. Brunswick Corp.356 A.2d 221, 224 (Md.
1976) (allowing that an “employer’s policy directives regarding aspettthie employment
relationship” maydevelop into contractual obligations).

1. Implied Contract

The District of Columbia and Maryland follow the common law rule that geneaally
employment relationship is terminable at wilbtrass 744 A.2d at 1011 (quotindlickens v.
Labor Agency of Meopolitan Washington600 A.2d 813, 816 (D.C. 1991)galdor Inc. v.

Bowden 625 A.2d 959, 965 (Md. 1993). Both jurisdictions recognize that an employer’'s

22



internal policies and employment literature may, in certain circumstagoes, rise to a
contract@al right to employment.Strass 744 A.2d at 1011Dahl, 356 A.2d at 224.However
where the internal materials relied upon expressly disclaim contractudl ifeemployees may

not rely on other statements in the handbook to argue that a contract has been fétyneai’

v. First Union Corp. 982 F. Supp. 8, 12 (D.D.C. 1997) (citi@gastiglione v. Johns Hopkins
Hosp, 517 A.2d 786, 794 (Md. Ct. Spec. App. 1986). In the District of Columbia, the materials
also “must contain language clearly reservingghmloyer’s right to terminate at will” in order

to foreclose the possibility of a contractual interpretati@aulton v. Inst. of Int'l Edu¢.808

A.2d 499, 505 (D.C. 2002) (quotirgjsco v. GSAlat'| Capital Fed.Credit Union 689 A.2d 52,

55 (D.C. 1997)).

Although plaintiff comes before the Court with a heap of defendant’s internalspéper
policy documents on which he relies either contain effective disclaimerg arelevant to his
employment status. Examples of irrelevant policies includendefé’s reporting requirements
for physicians, Kaiser Permanente’s National Patient Safety ProgramgalefsnElectronic
Asset Usage Policy, and defendant’s Research and Publications R8k&®PI.’s Opp’n [72] at
26-27, 34-35.0ther documents whiatould be construed to alter plaintiff's employment status
from that of an awvill employee emphatically disclaim contractual intent and alteration of the at
will relationship. GeePl.’s Ex. 19 [7221] at 3,1225, 43). For instance, thougfre Progresse
Discipline Policy outlines steps to be taken before terminating an employee, inclsdes
unequivocal terms disclaiming contractual intent and alteration of emplataedl status. (d.
at 3-6.) Since plaintiff is unable to point the Court to any internal policy, not properly
disclaimed, that would alter the defaultvatl employment relationship, the Court will grant

summary judgment in favor of defendant on plaintiff's implied contract claim.
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2. Public Policy Wrongful Discharge

An employeanay bring suit against an employer for wrongful termination in violation of
public policy. SeeWholey 803 A.2d at 488Fingerhut 738 A.2d at 803. In Maryland, “the
basis for the employee’s discharge must violate some clear mandate of pliblicgralthere
must be a nexus between the employee’s conduct and the employer's decisionthe fire
employee.” Wholey 803 A.2d at 489. While it adnbéd to making exceptions, the Maryland
Court of Appeals strongly cautionedjainst applying broad notions ofilic policy that step
outside the boundaries of pegisting law. See id.at 49691. The court stated, “[dimiting
factor in defining a public policy mandate as a cause of action in tort is tlom nbat the
policies should be reasonably discernifstan prescribed constitutional or statutory mandates.
Id.

Adopting similar standards, a majority of the District of Columbia Court of Apgest
that ‘there must be a close fit between the policy thus declared and the conduct at thsue
allegedly wrongful terminatiofi which policy must be “firmly anchored either in the
Constitution or in a statute or regulation which clearly reflects the partiquialic policy’
being relied upon. See Fingerhyt738 A.2d at 803 n.7 (quotir@arl v. Children’sHosp, 702
A.2d 159, 162, 164 (D.C. 1997) (Terry, J., concurring)).

Plaintiff's public policy arguments center on the claim that his termination wasndoiv
hostility against his unwelcome attempts at exposing and reforming badai@aictices.(See
Pl’s Opp’'n [72] at 36.) Even if one accepts plaintiff's account of himself as aletihster
punished for his good deeds, plaintiff is unable to identify an appropriate public policy on which

to base his claim.
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Some of the policy grounds that plaih@fdvances are less appropriate than oth(se
Pl’s Opp’n [72] at 2#29, 32.) For example plaintiff references the professional standards of
the American Medical Association and the Medical and Chirurgical FacuMaoyland. (See
Pl.’s Opp’'n [72]at 2728, 32.) Given that Maryland and District of Columbia courts have either
strongly cautioned against or forbidden the use of extralegal materials inldarmg public
policy exceptions to the atil employment doctrine, the Court will not considbe professional
standards cited by plaintiff but instead will confine itself to an examinationlaontiff's
governmental policy source§ee Wholey803 A.2d at 490-9Fingerhut 738 A.2d at 803 n.7.

Plaintiff looks for applicable public policy in@istrict of Columbia statutd).C. CODE §
7-161 (2010), requiring that health care providers submit reports of adverse medicaltevent
local government. SeePl.’s Opp’'n [72] at 28.) Plaintiff's reliance is misplaced however.
Significantly, plaintiff does not allege that he was terminated for attemptingimis the
required reports or otherwise take his grievances about patient care to govenuimeirities.
Thus the Court is unable to find the requisite close fit between plaintiff's conduct statuée
clearly expressing favorable public policy.

Plaintiff also seeks support from a Maryland statie, Cobe ANN., HEALTH OccC. §
14502 (West 2010), giving physicians protection from civil liability for repgrtinformation
about other physician® various health care institutions such as hospitals and licensing boards
“with the intention of aiding in the evaluation of the qualifications, fithess, or character of a
physician” MD. CoDE ANN., CTs. & JuD. PrRoC. § 5638; (SeePl.’s Opp’n [72] at 28, 2930.)
According to plaintiff, “such immunities are granted to physicians to providentineefor
physicians and others to participate in medical peer review and other prooassese quality

medical care.” (Pl.’s Opp’n [72] at 280.) The relabnship, however, between the statute in
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guestion and plaintiff's behavior is too attenuated to meet the stringentrstdmdeecognizing
public policy exceptions to the-aitll employment doctrine. In particular, the statute makes no
mention of a physician’s employment status or job security but instead onlysapsotiection
from litigation. SeeMD. CoDE ANN., HEALTH Occ. 8§ 14502; cf. Makovi v. Sherwin Williams
Co, 561 A.2d 179, 190 (Md. 1988) (holding that plaintiff could not rely on sex dis@atmm
statute to establish a wrongful discharge claim as statute provided itsvowemedy). It also
is not specifically addressed to countering medical negligence but imtgulicitly directed to
aiding evaluation of physicians’ qualificationsSeeMbD. CobE ANN., HEALTH Occ. § 14502
(extending Mb. CODEANN., CTS. & JuD. PrROC. § 5-638). Ultimately, the statute does not present
a clear mandate of public policy of the kind which the Maryland Court of Appeals cautiously
allowed could form the basis of a wrongful discharge cleégdaeWholey 803 A.2d at 490-91.
Plaintiff claims that “[flederal law encourages physicians to report gualitare issues

and grants physicians immunity for reporting quality of care issued.”s Ppp’'n [72] at 28
(citing Health Care Quality Improvement Act of 1986 (HCQIA), 42 U.S.C. § 11101, #1111
11115, 1113437, 1115352) However, thestatute deals only with narrowly defined
professional review actions by professional review bodies, granting ciwiumty to he
committees themselves and testifying physiciarf®ee id. Plaintiff does not allege that he
participated on or gave testimony to such a committee. HCQIA is inapproiatecdicy basis
for plaintiff's claim.

Plaintiff also cites dederal reguladn, 45 C.F.R. pt. 88 (2@}, which he interprets as
“protect[ing] physicians from being fired, disciplined or penalized . . . foisheg to participate
in any care they consider objectionable on ethical, moral or religious groudss’Qpp’n [72]

a 28.) The rule is inapposite for several reasons. First, its express purposenmeiment
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various statutes which bar recipients of Federal healthcare dollars framigrey physicians
who refuse on ethical or religious grounds to perform medicaleplures or researctSee45
C.F.R. § 88.1. Plaintiff has not alleged that defendant is a recipient of such funds. Moreover,
the regulation is plainly limited to denying Federal financing to organizati@discriminate
on grounds of conscience, not to forbidding the discharge of scrupulous physicians in general.
See id. Second, thouglplaintiff objected to working with incompetent or dangerous residents
and felt a clash of values with WHGne would be hard pressed to identify the specific moral
convictions underlying plaintiff's objections. (See Lurie Dep. [684] at 108:3-6, 115:16—
116:21.)

Finally, plaintiff invokes another District of Columbia statute, D.C. Code 0%
which prescribes procedures for evaluating the qualifications of healéh professionals for
staff positions and clinical privilegesSéePl.’s Opp’n [72] at 28.) Plaintiff is far off the mark
in presenting the statute as a basis for his wrongful termination claim. The ¢aestion does
not apply to private medical groups like defendé®eeD.C. Code § 44-501.

E. The Graftcath Contract (Breach of Contract and Implied Contract)

Plaintiff asserts two claims based on the Graftcath contract (Contracst, graintiff
claims that defendant breached the Contract bggfihim, making it impossible for him to
perform the Contract (SeePl.’s Opp’n [72] at 3637.) Second, plaintiff asserts that the
Contract created an implied employment agreement which defendant breached when it
terminated plaintiff. $ee idat 38.) In both cases, the defendant is alleged to have breached the
Contract by discharging plaintiff. The resolution of both claims thus turns on theogues

whether the Contract limited defendant’s right to terminate plaintiff.
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Where employer and employee have not agreed upon a period of employment, the
District of Columbia and Maryland largely follow the common law rule that the e/mgiot
relationship is terminable at willSee Strass/r44 A.2d at 1011Adler v. Am. Standard Corp.

432 A.2d 464, 467Md. 1981). In this case, the alleged employment contract was memorialized
in writing. “As a general rule, the construction or interpretation of all written instrisnem
guestion of law for the court is a principle of law that does not admit of do@airdy v. Ocean

Park Inc, 145 A.2d 273, 277 (Md. 195&¢cord 1010 Potomac Assocs. v. Grocery Mfrs. of Am.
Inc., 485 A.2d 199, 205 (D.C. 1984) (“[T]he interpretation of an integrated contract is a question
of law . . .”). For District of Columbia employment agreements, “[i]t hanbequired . . . that

the parties clearly state their intention to alter awiitemployment agreement in order to make
such an alteration effective.Rinck v. Ass’n of Reserve City Bankeég6 A.2d 12, 16 (D.C.
1996) (ating Littell v. Evening Star Newspaper Cd20 F.2d 36, 37 (D.C. Cir. 1941)).
Nevertheless‘[w]here the intent is not clearly revealed by the express terms of the agreement,
the courts will look to evidence of surrounding circumstances to determiaewds in the
minds of the contracting partieslittell, 120 F.2d at 37.

Although aspects of the Contract support plaintiff's interpretation, the Court does not
believe that the document can be fairly interpreted to alter the employmentnstgtibetveen
plaintiff and defendant. It is true that as Principal Investigator plipt$sessed a host of
responsibilities for overseeing the clinical trial of the Graftcath deviSee,(e.g.Def.’s Ex. 18
at 2.) Equally true, the Contract states, “Thstitation [defendant] will conduct the Clinical
Trial during the period beginning May 2005, and ending May 200@."at 1). Given his duties
on what was to be a multiyear project, plaintiff declares that he was “entittedexpectation of

working for two years.” (Pl’s Opp’'n [72] at 39). Nevertheless, nothing in the Contract,

28



expressly or otherwise, speaks of plaintiff embarking on a course of employittedefendant.

In fact, certain language militates against that interpretation. Under gokgBund” heading,
the Contract states, “The Institution [defendant] employs the Principadtigator, Kevin Lurie,

MD.” (Def.’s Ex. 18 at 1). The use of the present tense apparently efaesritiff's status as a
preexisting employee.

Similarly, underDistrict of Columbia law, the evidence is inadequate to show alteration
of the atwill employment relationship. The parties did not clearly state their intention tgehan
plaintiffs employment status. Additionally, plaintiff points to little esicte of surrounding
circumstances which would allow the Cototinfer that it was the parties’ intent to guaesnt
him employment until the end of the projecBeé€Pl.’s Opp’'n [72] at 38). Prior to signing the
Contract, plaintiff did play a major rola procuring the clinical trial (SeePl.’s Statement [74]

1 185; Pl.’s Ex. 10 [7-A2] at 240:212.) Plaintiff may have felt entitled to remain involved in
the clinical trial given his role in procuring it, but since plaintiff had alreadyopedd ths
service,there could have been muidpro-quo at the timehe partiesignedthe Contract. Cf.
Riefkin v. E.l. Du Pont De Nemours & C290 F. 286, 289 (D.C. Cir. 1923) (finding that where
contract spoke of permanent employment and plaintiff had gadelitional consideration by
promising to quit his former job, the parties could not have contemplatet! ataployment).

The Maryland reporters contain an employment case similar to that beforeuhebGt
with important differences that mark out tivaits of Maryland doctrine on when an agreement
creates a right to employment for a defined periderling v. Terry135 A.2d 309 (Md. 1957).

In Sperling theMaryland Court of Appeals found thatontractto supervise the construction of
a housecreated an implied right of employment until the completion of the holdeat 311.

The Graftcath contract is significantly different in that it did not origirthee employment
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relationship or limit that relationship to completion of a single t&#el.ubore v. RPM Assogs.
674 A.2d 547, 554 (Md. Ct. Spec. App. 199@jstinguishingSperlingwhere “the period of
appellant's employment was not tied to the accomplishment of any palyicldéned task, the
duraton of which is fixed or finit®).°® Standng alone,plaintiff's expectation that he would
continue to be a part of the research project is not enough to prove alteration ofvithe at
employment relationshipCf. Lubore 674 A.2d at 554finding that plaintiff's employment was
at-will despite he fact that plaintiff's contract contained salary projections for the nexyéars
and described job responsibilities involving long term planning).

Whether under Maryland or District of Columbia law, defendant retained the right to
terminate plaintiffand did not breach the Contract when it did so. Summary judgment will be
granted in favor of the defendant on plaintiff's claims arising under the Contract

F. Tortious Interference

Plaintiff alleges that defendant has tortiously interfered with his new angendent
surgical practice. SeePl.’s Opp’n [72] at 39.) The elements of tortious interference with
contractual or business relations are well established. In Maryland, the toresed{i)
intentional andwillful acts; (2) calculated to caslamage to the plaintiffs in their lawful
business; (3) done with the unlawful purpose to cause such damage andilbssi right or
justifiable cause on the part of the defendants (which constitutes malice)})aaxtual damage
and loss resulting.’Kaser v. Fin. ProtMktg., Inc.,, 831 A.2d 49, 54 (Md. 2003) (quotivgillner

v. Silverman71 A. 962, 964 (Md. 1909)). In the District of Columbia, one must prove: “(1)

® The interpretation put o8perlingby the Maryland Court of Special Appeals (the intermediate court) is well
founded. In th&perlingopinion, the Maryland Court of Appeals (the high court) emphasizedtiieact's oneoff
character: ‘1 will be noted that the appellant wast in the building businessle was going terect a single
dwelling, for use as his abode. This, ordinarily, would require between twaandbnths. For him, it was an
isolatedundertaking. He needed a supervisor, so he employed the appellee to ‘supervisekeon the
construction of a private dwelling’, ‘all labor and materials to be $imed by’ the appellant.Sperling 135 A.2d at
311(emphasis added).
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existence of a valid contractual or other business relationship; (2) the defekdemisdge of
the relationship; (3) intentional interference with that relationship by thendlfié and (4)
resulting damages.’!NCRIC, Inc. v. Columbia Hosp. for Women Med. ,(&57 A.2d 890, 900
(D.C. 2008) (footnote omitted).

1. Defendant did not tortiously interfere with plaintiff's practice by
misleading former patients

Paintiff first argues that defendant discouraged patients from seeing him and misled

them about whether their insurance covered treatment by plair$éeP(.’s Opp’n [72] at 40.)
Plaintiff points to the experience of Geraldine Edwards and Judy GaSte if). Plaintiff
claims that he had an existing business relationship or expectancy with both wdalgn, li
referring to care he provided for them while still employed with iiidat(See idat 41, Gantt
Dep. [72-10] at 27:14-28:9.)

Significantly, plaintiff does not allege that he hadelationship with Gantt or Edwards
outside that developed whilst treating them as an employee of defen8aePl.'c Opp’'n [72]
at 4011.). Thus, to the extent that they were plaintiff's clients, they were alsendaft’s
clients, a dispositive fact under Maryland law. Since defendant lacked an indepssaterhic
relationship with these potential clients, the defendant could not have tortiousigredewith
that relationship. See Kaser831 A.2d at 59 (finding against insurance subagent who alleged
tortious interference against general agent but lacked an economic reiatiatith the client
that was separate and independent).

Plaintiff’'s evidence is likewise inadequate per District of Columbia standards.elfjiam
plaintiff fails to make an adequate showing on the elements of intent and damagedabilishes
a prima facie case of interference with businesations,‘a plaintiff mud show that the

interference was intentional and that there was resulting damaBeotWwn v. Carr 503 A.2d
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1241, 1247 (D.C. 1986) (quotirgfred A. Altimont, Inc. v. Chatelain, Samperton & Ngl&ii4
A.2d 284, 289 (D.C. 1977)).

If defendant’s doctorsntentionally misled Gantt and Edwar@bout their insurance
coverageone could infer intent to interfere with plaintiff's businestwever, the evidence that
defendantgdeceived the two patients vagueand equivocal; both women’s affidavits merely
state,“Drs. Lustgarten and Aryavand discouraged me from seeing Dr. Luriemhohé that my
insurance would not cover my care.” (Pl.’s Ex. 3-§{2] 5; Pl.’s Ex. 4 [72] 1 5.) Plaintiff's
reliance on the affidavitss undercutby the clarifying deposiin testimony of Gantt. When
asked about her conversations with Drs. Lustgarten and Aryavand,caantt theytold hershe
could not use plaintiff for her surgerySeeGantt Dep. [7210] at 944). Shegoes on to clarify
thoughthat thedoctors were geaking abouKaiser’'s coverage foprocedures performed by
plaintiff. (See d. at 25:15-26:5.) Gantt explainghat she chose to use Kaiser initially but then
later opted to use Medicare and be treated by plaintfée (dat 26:9-22.) While evidencef
deceit could serve as circumstantial evidence of intent to interfere, sdeposition testimony
seems to show Drs. Lustgarten and Aryavand explaining the status of Ganttageowath
Kaiser. It would be a stretch to say they categorically clai@antt lacked insurance which
would allow her to see plaintiff if she so desired.

Gantt’s testimony indicates plaintiff did not suffer damagas Gantt explained, she was
always aware that treatment by plaintiff was an option and that Medicare woulidrpénat
treatment. $ee id.at 26:38.) Though she originally chose to receive treatment from Kaiser
practitioners, she ultimately turned to plaintiff for her surgical needee (d.at 26:122.)

Supporting that testimony, plaintiff admits that leventually operated successfully on both
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women. GeePl.’s Opp’n [72] at 40.)If Gantt wasunaffected by any misinformation on tharp
of defendant’s employees, defendant did not cause plaintiff to lose her business.

2. Defendant’s decision to refuse plaintiff admission to its referring praeider
network was not tortious interference

Plaintiff tries to ground his interference claim on defendant’s decision toer&fasentry
into the Kaiser referring provider networkSee id.at 42). Supporting his position, he writes,
“Plaintiff had a 17#year relationship with Defendant. He had relationships with the physicians
with whom he worked and with the patients he treatettd?) (There are several problems with
plaintiff's argument. To begin, plaintiff doe®t point the Court to examples of harm to his
surgical practice produced by the ongoing fissure in the relationships hi#iedenthe Court is
thus unable to identify any evidence of damages suffered by plaintiff.

Further, the Court cannot discemith sufficient specificity the economic relationships or
business expectancies that were allegedly compromised by defendandifss.actBlanket
accusations do not point the Court to the existence of particular “business expstthiat are
“commercially reasonable to anticipate.”Carr v. Brown 395 A.2d 79, 84 (D.C. 1978)
(describing those relationships that are protectau unjustified interference).

Plaintiff’'s allegationsof broken connections with coworkers and patiemésparticularly
deficient under Maryland law To wit, the relationships with coworkers and patients that
plaintiff formed while employed with defendant are not independent economiomshaps with
which defendant might interfer&See Kaser831 A.2d at 59.

3. If plaintiff was rot paid for treating Kaiser patients, his grievance is not
with defendant, and his remedy is in contract, not tort.

Plaintiff claims that he has not received payment for seeing patients refernad toy

defendant’s physiciansSéePl.’s Opp’n [72] at 41.) Even if true, this allegationriglevantfor
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two reasons. First, if plaintiff has not been paid for services rendered to pabestsd by
Kaiser Health Plan insurance, then his grievance is with the Kaiser Hdafth ridt with
defendant MAPNG. (Seelurie Dep. [684] at 340:26342:3.) Second, if defendant or Kaiser
Health Insurance has wrongly refused to honor plaintiff's bills, his rengeydontract, not in
tort. Courts have steadfastly resisted efforts to convert an action for breamttratt into a suit
for tortious interference See Alexander & Alexander, Inc. v. B. Dixon Evander & Ass668.
A.2d 260, 269270 (Md. 1994);Raskauskgass89 A.2d at 26 (explicating “the common sense
notion that a plaintiff should not be alloweddonvert a breach of contract claim into a claim for
tortious interference”).
V. Defendant’s Counterclains

Defendant asserts causes of action for breach of contract, fraud, negligent
misrepresentation, and unjust enrichment. It claims the Court may aoitsid@®unterclaim
pursuant to both its diversity, 28 U.S.C. 8 1332, and supplemental jurisdiction, 28 U.S.C. § 1367.
(SeeCountercl[2] at 1.)

A. Diversity of Citizenship

The Constitution and statutes limit the subject matter jurisdiction of the Fédmud.
See Kokkonen v. Guardian Life Insurance Co. of AmeBta U.S. 375, 377 (1994)The
Federal Courthave diversityjurisdiction over civil actions between citizens of different states
where the amount in controversy is greater than $75,000, exclusive of interests ain8exXi
U.S.C. § 1332. In calculating the amount in controversy, “the sum claimed by the plaintiff
controls if the claim is apparently made in good faitBt! Paul Mercury Indem. Co. v. Red Cab

Co, 303 U.S. 283, 288 (193&footnote omitted). Further, “it must appear to a legal certainty
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that the claim is really for less than the jurisdictional amount to justify dismisSalPau) 303
U.S. at 2809.

When appraisingthe amount in controversy, courts are not confineéxamining the
amount of actual damages. For instance, courts should include the value of any injunctive o
declarative relief soughtSee Hunt v. Wash. State Apple Adver. Comd82 U.S. 333, 347
(1977). “In actions seeking declaratory or injunctivieefeit is well established that the amount
in controversy is measured by the value of the object of the litigatidant, 432 U.S. at 347.
Further the value may be measured from either the perspective of the plairthi# defendant.
SeeComm. forGl Rights v. Calloway518 F.2d 466, 472 (D.C. Cir. 1975) (quotifigtum v.
Laird, 444 F.2d 947, 951 (D.C. Cir. 1971¢y’'d on other grounds408 U.S. 1 (1972)).

Requests for punitive damages should likewise be considBedldy. Preferred Life
Assurance Soc’y of Montgomery, AlJ&20 U.S.238, 240(1943), albeit with a skeptical eye. “In
applying the legal certainty test where the availability of punitive damagé® sine qua non
[essential element] of federal jurisdiction the District Court sthosdrutinize the punitive
damage claim to ensure that it has at least a colorable basis in law andKkaht’v. J. W.
Wilson & Assocs673 F.2d 547, 549 (D.C. Cir. 1982) (citidghn v. International Paper Co.
469 F.2d 1033, 103d.1 (2d Cir. 1972)aff'd, 414 U.S. 291 (1973Nelson v. Keefed51 F.2d
289, 29398 (3d Cir. 1971).“Liberal pleading rules are not a license for plaintiffs to shoehorn
essentially local actions into federal court through extravagant or invalidiveuiamage
claims.” Id. at 549.

To evaluate punitive damages requestsjr§f] the court must determine whether the plaintiff
can recover punitive damages as a matter of governing substantindwashukwu v. Cayl223

F.Supp. 2d 60, 66 (D.D.C. 2002) (citiBgll v. PreferredLife Assurance Soc'y of Montgomery,
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Ala., 320 U.S.238, 240 (1943))If the plaintiff can recover as a matter of Jdthe court has
subject matter jurisdiction unless it is clear beyond a legal certainty that the plamitidl under

no circumstances bentitled to recover the jurisdictional amotintld. (citing Cadek v. Great
Lakes Dragaway, In¢58 F.3d 1209, 1212 (7th Cir.1995)). In this second step, the plaintiff must
present factual evidence of entitlement to punitive damalgegciting Larkin v. Brown 41 F.3d

387, 38889 (8th Cir.1994) see alsaMcQueen v. Woodstream Car.72 F. Supp. 2d 84, 88
(D.D.C. 2009).

In contrast to the acceptance of punitive damages, courts in this circuit haes refus
take into account attorney’s fees wheeciding whether a litigant has met the jurisdictional
minimum, albeit with an exception for fees provided for by statute or cont@et G. Keys
PC/Logis NP v. Pope30 F.Supp. 2d 13, 17 (D.D.C. 2009) (citing a number of examples).

In the instant case, albbugh the defendant invokes the Court’s diversity jurisdiction, it
does not request a specific amount of damages or give an estimate of the amauragesdit
hopes to recover.SgeCountercl. [2] at 1, 4.) Instead, at the bottom of its compldefendant
requests, “1. Consequential and punitive damages in an amount to be proven at trial; 2. An
accounting for all compensation received by Lurie based on falsifieddeeeod information
submitted to MAPMG; 3. The costs incurred by MAPMG in proiaguhis Counterclaim; and
4. Such other relief deemed appropriate by the Courtd. af 4.) As a result, the Court must
look to the body of the complaint to ascertain the basis for the anticipated damages

1. Defendant’s actual damages are far less than $75,000

With respect to actual damages, defendant seeks the same recovery for each of cause of

action. Gee id.at 24.) For the breach of contract, fraud, and negligent misrepresentation

claims, defendant declares that it has sustained damagesamahb@t of compensation that was
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paid to plaintiff for ghost clinics. See id. Similarly, defendant’s unjust enrichment claim is
presumably based on the monies retained by plaintiff that he derived from ghiast qSeeid.
at 4) Defendant’s alleged actual damages in this case are therefore equivalent to tbetpaym
plaintiff received from operating ghost clinics.

To determine the magnitude of the ghost clinic paymeetendantcould prove at trial,
the Court looks to the record. The affidavit of Ann Cahill furnishes the most obvious guidepost;
she avers, “Dr. Lurie had obtainatl least$8,344.96 in extra pay by submitting falsified time
sheets which showed that he had worked the ghosc<lin (SeeCahill Aff. [71-2] § 7
(emphasis added.))Assessing Cahill’'s statement, the Court is aware that Cahill is literally
stating a minimum figure. Still, $8,344.96 is a reasonable estimate in light of tHeenom
ghost clinic hours that plaintiff claimed. Looking at the alleged offending time ests,
defendant added fiftgix hours to his timesheets for ghost clinicSedDr. Lurie’s Timesheets
Re: Ghost Clinics [7B].) Though the Court has not located information in the record that
would allow it to determine the pay rate for the hours,ulsefsessments can be made from this
information nonetheless. If one divides the sum given by Cahill by-dikyone finds a
plausible hourly rate of $149.02. In contrast, plaintiff would have had to receive $1,339.29 for
each ghost clinic hour in order to reach the jurisdictional minimum of $75/00®e number
referenced by Cahil§8,344.96 appearghento be a reasonable estimate of the amount of actual
damages which defendant could prove at trial. A substantially greateatestone approaaig

$75,000 for instance, would be unfounded.

" For comparison, by the time he was fired in Octakfe?005, Dr. Lurie’s W2 wages for that year stood at
$317,424.17. SeeCahill Aff. [68-1] 1 19.) If he were generally being compensated at a rate of $1,339.29 per hour,
he would have only had to work approximately 237 hours to earn that stmotghkly six forty hour weeks.
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2. Defendant is not entitled to punitive damages

Given special circumstances, both the District of Columbia and Maryland allibigant
to recover punitive damages. “Maryland law has limited the availabilipuoitive damages to
situations in which the defendant’s conduct is characterized by knowing and deliberat
wrongdoing.” Ellerin v. Fairfax Sav., F.S.B652 A.2d 1117, 1123 (Md. 1995). In the District
of Columbia, “Punitive damages may be awarded ‘only if it is shown by clear and dagvinc
evidence that the tort committed by the defendant was aggravated by egregious anddaict
state of mind that justifies punitive damagesChatman v. Lawlqr831 A.2d 395, 400 (D.C.
2003) (quotinglonathan Woodneto. v. Breeden665 A.2d 929, 938 (D.C1995). The state of
mind required is similar to that in Maryland, “outrageous conduct which is malicionsonya
reckless, or in willful disregard for another’s rightsld. (quotingVassiliades v. Garfincked,
Brooks Brothers, Miller & Rhoades, In@92 A.2d 580, 593 (D.C985). In either jurisdiction,
the requisite bad conduct for an award of punitive damages must be proven by clear and
convincing evidenceSee Chatmar831 A.2d at 400Dwenslllinois, Inc. v. Zenobia601 A.2d
633, 657 (Md. 1992). Further, neither jurisdiction will allow punitive damages to be imposed for
a pure breach of contrackee Bowden v. Caldor, In@10 A.2d 267, 276 (Md. 1998Fhoharis
v. State Farm Fire and Cas. C&®61 A.2d 1080, 1090 (D.C. 2008) (quotigre v. Group
Hospitalization, Ing.443 A.2d 33, 37 (D.C. 198R)

Though defendant requests punitive damages in its complaint, it does not explain the
basis for that request.S¢eCountercl. [2] at 4.) In particulart fails to identify the specific
claims for which it believes imposition of punitive damages is appropriate. Hgvaafendant
does allege facts in connection with its fraud claim which if properly proven wouth énto

recover punitive damages. Seg id. at 3.) It writes, “Lurie acted willfully, maliciously,
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intentionally, knowingly, and in wanton disregard of MAPMG'’s rights and interests by
submitting the falsified reports and informationId.)

Defendantfails to substantiate its allegatiamth argument or evidence. In its brief,
defendant broadly claims that plaintiff engaged in “conduct which a jury could ré&hgdina
Dr. Lurie had pursued to circumvent MAPMG's practice of not paying surgeons additiona
compensation based on the numiiepatients seen during the normal work day.” (Def.’s Opp’'n
[71] at 20.) Defendant’s representations notwithstanding, the Court cannot locate edequat
evidence speaking to plaintiff's mental state. Since plaintiff is without a bagisstdying his
punitive damage request, the Court will not consider defendant’s request for punitigeedama
determining the amount in controversy. In making its decision, the Court is mindful of the
admonition of the Court of Appeals to carefully examine clams for punitive damaged®so as
prevent unsubstantiated requests for punitive damages from becoming a passwohe into t
Federal courtsSee Kahal673 F.2d at 549.

3. The value of the declarative relief sought by plaintiff is negligible

Regardless of which meid is used to quantify its value, the Court cannot imagine
attaching a high price tag to the accounting requested by defendant. Defendargdass
possesses all of the relevant documents; it produced plaintiff's allefgadtulent timesheets in
discovey. (Lurie’s Timesheets [#6].) Since the timesheets number just twemitye pages, the
Court was able to count the allegedly fraudulent hours in a matter of minutes with motrimg
than a pen and paper tally. One assumes that defendant couldetakenth steps then multiply
the number of hours by the rate it paid plaintiff and do it all for less than $10,000. At the end of
the day, the Court has no reason to assign a substantial value to the accaughigby

defendant.
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Of the possible bases for relief considered, only plaintiff's request for consedjuent
damages involves a substantial sum. Nonetheless, the allegedly undeserneatpayplaintiff
plainly do not amount to more than the statutory minimum. Accordingly, the Court finds that
“appear[s] to a legal certainty that the claim is really for less than the jaoesdilcamount.” St.
Paul, 303 U.S. 283 at 289. As a result, the Court lacks jurisdiction pursuant to § 1332.

B. Supplemental Jurisdiction

“[Nln any civil action of whichthe district courts have original jurisdiction, the district
courts shall have supplemental jurisdiction over all other claims that are t&ul nelaclaims in
the action within such original jurisdiction that they form part of the samearasentroversy
under Article 1l of the United States Constitution28 U.S.C. § 1367. Howevalistrict courts
have discretion to refuse to exisee supplemental jurisdiction in certain circumstances, including

when “the district court has dismissed all claims oveictvit has original jurisdiction.’ld.

The Court has determined that summary judgment is properegpect to the claims
plaintiff's complaint over which it has original jurisdiction. All of the causesctiba described
in defendant’s counterclaim are founded in state law and have been found to lack andadep
basis in the Court’'s diversity jurisdiction. The Court can and will exelitssdiscretion to
dismiss thenf. See Shekoyan v. Sibley In#D9 F.3d 414, 423 (D.C. Cir. 2005) (“Whethe
retain jurisdiction over pendent state and common law claims after the dismisisalfetieral
claims is ‘a matter left to the sound discretion of the district court’ that we rdurembuse of
discretion only.” (quotingedmondson & Gallager v. Altan Towers Tenants Ass’48 F.3d

1260, 1265-66 (D.C. Cir.1995)

8 Since the Court would exercise its discretion to dismiss the claims eitreer outcome, the Court need not decide
whether the counterclaim forms part of the same case or controversy as the ctherariginal complaint over
which it has original jurisdiction.
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V. Conclusion

Despite its faults, plaintiff's statement of material fechot so imprper as to justify
striking it. Accordingly, defendant’s motiofY8] to strike will be DENIED. Since plaintiff fails
to presensufficientevidence from which a reasonable jury could find in his favor, the Court will
GRANT defendant’s motiorf68] for summary judgment. Finally, the Court finds diversity
jurisdiction lacking over defendant’s counterclairasd declines to exercise supplementary
jurisdiction. Therefore, the Court will DISMISS defendant’s counterclaimasdmes not reach
plaintiff's motion [69] for summary judgment.

A separate order shall issue this date.

August 9, 2010 /sl
ROYCE C. LAMBERTH

Chief Judge
United States District Court
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